
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rolling Hills 
Community Development District 

 
 

December 13, 2022 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 



   Rolling Hills  
  Community Development District 
  475 West Town Place 
  Suite 114  
  St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
  District Website:  www.RollingHillsCDD.com 

 
December 6, 2022 
 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Rolling Hills Community Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Rolling Hills Community Development District Meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, 
December 13, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. at the Rolling Hills Amenity Center, 3212 Bradley 
Creek Parkway, Green Cove Springs, Florida 32092.  
Following is the advance agenda for the meeting: 

 
 I. Roll Call 
 
 II. Audience Comments (Regarding Agenda Items Listed Below) 
 
 III. Organizational Matters 
  A. Oath of Office for Newly Elected Supervisors 
 
  B. Organizational Matters, Resolution 2023-01  
 
 IV. Approval of Minutes of the October 11, 2022 Meeting 
 
 V. Discussion of District Roads 
 
 VI. Discussion Regarding Traffic Study 
 
 VII. Series 2020 Project: 
  A. Update Regarding Series 2020 Project 
 
  B. Ratification of Requisitions (92) 
 
 VIII. Series 2022 Project: 
  A. Update Regarding Series 2022 Project 
 
  B. Ratification of Requisitions (55-68) 
 



 IX. Offer Letter Regarding Clay County Project No. 4 (Sandridge Road) – Parcels 
402 & 405  

 
 X. Ratification of Audit Engagement Letter from Grau & Associates for Fiscal Year 

2022 
 
 XI. Consideration of Resolution 2023-02, Amending Record Retention Policy  
 
 XII. Other Business 
 
 XIII. Staff Reports 
  A. Attorney  
  
 B.  Engineer – Update on Cell Phone Tower 
  
  C. Manager  
 
  D. Operations / Amenity Manager  
    1. Report 
 
    2. Monthly Quality Inspection Report 
 
 XIV. Supervisor’s Requests 
 
 XV. Audience Comments 
  
 XVI. Financial Reports 
  A. Balance Sheet & Income Statement 
 
  B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 
 
  C. Check Register 
 
XVII. Next Scheduled Meeting: February 21, 2023 @ 6:00 p.m. at the Rolling Hills 

Amenity Center 
 
XVIII. Adjournment 
 
 
Community Interest: 
 A. Amenity Center – Chairperson Jordan 
 B. Security & Technology –Supervisor Miller 
 C. Communications, Programming/Events, Finance & Accounting – Supervisor 

Riggs 
 D. Landscape & Pond Maintenance – Supervisor Church  
 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 



RESOLUTION 2023-01 
 

A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING OFFICERS OF THE ROLLING 
HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Rolling Hills Community Development District at a 
regular business meeting held on December 13, 2022 desires to elect the below recited persons to the 
offices specified. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 1.  The following persons were elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
    Chairman 

    Vice-Chairman  

  Marilee Giles  Secretary 

  Marilee Giles  Treasurer 

  Daniel Laughlin  Assistant Treasurer  

  Patti Powers  

  Howard McGaffney  

  Darrin Mossing  

  James Oliver  

  Daniel Laughlin  Assistant Secretary(s) 

  Rich Hans  

  Howard McGaffney  

  James Oliver  

  Darrin Mossing  

    

    

    

 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 13TH DAY OF DECEMBER, 2023. 
 
   
 Chairman / Vice Chairman 
 
   
 Secretary / Assistant Secretary 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



MINUTES OF MEETING 
ROLLING HILLS 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Rolling Hills Community 

Development District was held Tuesday, October 11, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. in the Rolling Hills 

Amenity Center, 3212 Bradley Creek Parkway, Green Cove Springs, Florida. 

 

 Present and constituting a quorum were: 
 
 Shannon Jordan Chairperson 
 John Miller Vice Chairman 
 David Church Supervisor 
 Nate Riggs Supervisor 
 
 Also present were: 
 
 Marilee Giles District Manager 
 Katie Buchanan District Counsel by telephone 
 Keith Hadden District Engineer 
 Freddie Oca Riverside Management 
 Jay Soriano Operations Manager 
 Gerald Cyr Garden Street 
 
 
 The following is a summary of the actions taken at the October 11, 2022 meeting.   

 
FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Roll Call 

 Ms. Giles called the meeting to order at 6:10 p.m. and called the roll. 

 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments  

 There not being any, the next item followed. 

 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Approval of the Minutes of the August 16, 
2022 Meeting 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Church with all in 
favor the minutes of the August 16, 2022 meeting were approved as 
presented. 

 



October 11, 2022 Rolling Hills CDD 

2 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Series 2020 Project 

A. Update Regarding Series 2020 Project 

 Mr. Hadden stated the first 24 lots of the Christmas Tree is finished.  Everything has been 

tested and passed, the lift station and all the utilities.  They are doing the closeout now with Clay 

County engineering and CCUA.  The schedule is to close on the first 24 lots this Monday, the 17th 

at which time LGI will take ownership of those.  It will take two to three months to get their house 

plans approved.  Vallencourt has all the curb down in all six cul-de-sacs and all the main sidewalks.  

The plan is to close out the next cul-de-sac in about two and a half months then the final four cul-

de-sacs will be closed at one time.   

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Series 2022 Project 

A. Update Regarding Series 2022 Project 

 Ms. Giles stated I talk to Joe Schofield before the meeting and he said the project is on 

schedule, about 80% complete.  There were no huge hang ups. 

 Mr. Cyr stated our target for completion is the February/March timeframe.   

 

B. Ratification of Requisitions 48-54 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Miller with all in favor 
requisitions 48-54 were ratified. 

 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Other Business 

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Staff Reports 

 A. Attorney 

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

 B. Engineer – Update on Cell Phone Tower 

 Mr. Hadden stated they had offered $2,000 per month and you said go back with $3,000 

and they said no, then they went to the county and unbeknownst to us the area we are putting this 

in is a greenspace that is an upland that you own, a buffer from neighborhood to neighborhood.  



October 11, 2022 Rolling Hills CDD 

3 

When the county did the Regional Overall Lake Asbury Plan they designated any green space as 

not allowing cell towers even though cell towers are specifically allowed in your CDD documents.  

They came back to me and said the county said nowhere in any other CDDs in Lake Asbury area 

can we build a cell tower because all their green spaces are out.  I am going to get back with the 

county because they never came to you to say, can we put an overlay district that doesn’t allow 

cell towers. 

 Ms. Buchanan stated I think we need to better understand where the restriction is coming 

from and the process and whether there were appeal rights that we didn’t receive, just some further 

investigation on our options.   

 Mr. Hadden stated I will get the documentation they got from the county.   

 

 C. Manager 

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

 D. Operations/Amenity Manger 

 1. Report 

 Mr. Oca gave an overview of the operations report. 

 

 Pool Motor 

 Mr. Soriano stated this is the fifth motor because of the design, it sits inside a small metal 

box and it doesn’t have room.  The first couple times this motor went out they thought it was a 

problem with your electric.  We replaced it and Clay Electric said there was not a problem, short 

of a surge or lightning strike there is nothing going on here.  It was replaced after I left by East 

West and Matt Biagetti, Steve Andersen replaced it, Freddie said the last replacement was in 2019 

and every time it happens the same exact way.  It spins and overheats to the point it melts the 

windings inside the electric motor.  You can’t repair that.  It has to do with the design of no airflow 

and there is no protection.  Twelve or fifteen years ago they didn’t install VFDs, these are small 

computers that monitor the motor that will tell you the frequency that the motor runs at, the 

rotations, it will tell you the temperature of the motor and there are settings and you can control 

the highest point and if it starts to heat up too much the VFD will shut off that motor and protect 

it.  You have to physically go back there and figure out what is going on, reset it and allow it to 



October 11, 2022 Rolling Hills CDD 

4 

come on.  That saves your motor, but they are expensive, so you are paying the price for another 

motor basically to protect that one.  You have gone through motors every three years.  The last 

time you did this the invoice was $8,667 that he took care of in 2019.  In 2020 we had this problem 

and your pool work has doubled, so it is going to be between $10,000 and $15,000.  One of our 

contractors gave Freddie the information that even the motor that we were hoping to order would 

have been at least 9-weeks out.  He ended up getting it a little earlier for us and we got it about 

two weeks ago.  We had a hurricane to deal with and didn’t have time to coordinate everybody.  

The contractor was able to get the motor for $2467, much cheaper than anything we have dealt 

with.  My concern is that Freddie can act on this as an emergency repair.  If we can get it done in 

the month that would be great.  He has paid the $2,467 for the motor.  The VFD drive is anywhere 

between $4,000 and $5,500.  No one has one in stock right now.  I can hook it back up and it will 

run but I don’t recommend running this for a long time.  We should not go months or even through 

next summer unless you have that protection.  Just to get it lifted up out of there we have a verbal 

quote of $2,200 to lift the motor off its mount and put it on the ground next to it.  I would ask for 

a not to exceed of $12,000 and chances it will come in around $10,000 but I need the leeway to 

get the electrician to finish up the work.   

 

On MOTION by Mr. Riggs seconded by Ms. Jordan with all in favor 
staff was authorized to make the pool repairs that include the motor, 
labor and VFD in an amount not to exceed $12,000.   

 

 Mr. Soriano stated the other thing I think we should discuss and make sure it is okay is the 

playground.  Freddie was concerned that if the pool is shut down people shouldn’t be in the 

playground, but that is your only access to the playground.  The pool is expected to be shut down.   

 Ms. Jordan asked what is the liability risk on that? 

 Ms. Buchanan stated the CDD must do our due diligence and notify people that the pool 

isn’t available.  If we send out a message, if we post signs on the door, I don’t know about taping 

it off but maybe tape off the part that you see when you exit the building, and people are 

disregarding our efforts that gives us some backup and better defensibility.  Is this an operations 

issue that you think that someone could be injured in the pool? 

 Mr. Soriano stated the filter is not running so they have to stay out of the water, even the 

health department will tell you that. 



October 11, 2022 Rolling Hills CDD 

5 

 Ms. Buchanan stated it is a water quality issue. 

 Mr. Soriano stated they can walk on the deck to go to the playground there is not a concern.  

It is a good idea to be safe and error on the side of caution but if we can find a way to open the 

playground I think that is a good idea.   

 Ms. Jordan stated people jump the fence and swim.  Are we protected? 

 Mr. Soriano stated when you jump the fence there is a difference.  We need direction for 

Freddie to open the playground. 

 Ms. Jordan stated send another email, put signs up and a sign on the doors and take pictures. 

 

 2. Monthly Quality Inspection Report 

 A copy of the monthly quality inspection report was included in the agenda package. 

 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisors Requests 

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments 

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Financial Reports 

 A. Balance Sheet & Income Statement 

 A copy of the balance sheet and income statement were included in the agenda package. 

 

 B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 

 A copy of the assessment receipt schedule was included in the agenda package. 

 

 C. Check Register 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Church with all in 
favor the check registers were approved. 

 



October 11, 2022 Rolling Hills CDD 

6 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Next Meeting Scheduled for December 13, 
2022 @ 6:00 p.m. at Rolling Hills Amenity 
Center 

 Ms. Giles stated the next meeting is December 13, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. at this location. 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Riggs with all in favor 
the meeting adjourned at 6:45 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
    
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairman/Vice Chairman 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



Jeff, 

  

The Florida Uniform Traffic Control Law (Chapter 316), was enacted to make 
uniform traffic laws to apply throughout the state and its several counties and 
cities.  To further ensure uniformity throughout the state, Legislature enacted Section 
316.002, Florida Statutes which states “It is unlawful for any local authority to pass or 
attempt to enforce any ordinance in conflict with the provisions of this Chapter.”  

  

                Chapter 316, Florida Statutes, vests the authority in the state, counties and 
charter municipalities pursuant to Section 316.006. Florida Statutes. Powers of “local 
authorities,” defined as “officers and public officials of counties and municipalities” 
in Section 316.001, Florida Statutes, are laid out in Sections 316.006 and 316.008, 
Florida Statutes.  There is no language in Chapter 316 nor Chapter 190 granting a 
community development district (a type of special district) the authority to exercise 
the power of traffic control.  Thus, the authority to exercise the police power to 
regulate traffic within their boundaries is solely vested in the state, counties and 
municipalities.  

  

                Special districts such as community development districts only possess 
those powers that are expressly given to them by statute or necessarily implied upon 
them to effectuate the power that has been granted to them.  Chapter 190, relating to 
community development districts does not expressly or impliedly grant districts any 
authority over traffic control.  In Section 190.012, Florida Statutes, the Legislature 
granted districts the authority to, among other things, operate systems, facilities, and 
basic infrastructure for district roads.  However, there is no language express or 
implied which could be interpreted to grant districts the authority over traffic control 
within their boundaries.  The language only grants districts the authority to construct, 
maintain and operate the basic infrastructure for roads.  Once roads are created or 
maintained, the authority to control traffic upon such roads vests within the state, 
county or municipality. 

  

                I have included for your review links to several Florida Attorney General 
Opinions which address the authority of special districts to exercise traffic control 
within their boundaries.  The Attorney General’s Office has addressed this issue 



relating to special districts including water management districts (AGO 97-03 and 
AGO 99-32).  The Attorney General’s Office has repeatedly opined that Chapter 316 
operates to prohibit any local legislation on traffic control or such enforcement under 
the police power of a municipality that is not expressly granted by the Uniform Traffic 
Control Law.  As with water management districts, community development districts 
do not have any express or implied authority over traffic control.  Such authority is 
vested with the Clay County and the State of Florida.   

  

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/3D376D874D3D6AB98525641B00
6E91B5 

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/1AABE2B85777E6288525678A00
756C25 

  

                Note that these opinions address situations where roads are owned by the 
special district.  It is in this situation where a written agreement would be required, 
because then the county would be exercising control over “a road owned or controlled 
by a special district.”  The roads within Rolling Hills CDD are not owned or 
controlled by the CDD, so I don’t believe a written agreement is required. The plats 
dedicating the roads within the CDD to the County can be found in Plat Book 51, 
Page 36 and Plat Book 67, Page 29. 

  

Katie S. Buchanan 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



From: Marilee Giles Mgiles@gmsnf.com
Subject: Fwd: Rolling Hills Community Development District - speed limit enforcement

Date: December 6, 2022 at 12:14 PM
To:

From: Marilee Giles <mgiles@gmsnf.com>
Subject: Fwd: Rolling Hills Community Development District - speed limit 
enforcement
Date: October 6, 2021 at 1:58:38 PM EDT
To: John Miller <Jmille8170@gmail.com>, David Church 
<crestrondave73@gmail.com>, Rose Bock <rosesbock@aol.com>, Shannon Jordan 
<shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com>
Cc: Freddie Oca <rhmanager@riversidemgtsvc.com>, Jim Oliver <joliver@gmsnf.com>

BOARD SUPERVISORS, TO AVOID A POTENTIAL SUNSHINE LAW VIOLATION, PLEASE 
DO NOT REPLY TO ALL TO THIS EMAIL

Supervisors,

Good afternoon. Just wanted to provide you an update to the request made to CCSO for 
their assistance in Rolling Hills. Below is a string of emails describing the actions and results 
of the increased presence of CCSO in the community - definitely a good news story.

Marilee Giles
District Manager
GMS, LLC
475 West Town Place, Suite 114
St. Augustine, FL 32092
Office: (904) 940-5850 x412
Email: Mgiles@gmsnf.com

Begin forwarded message:

From: Jim Oliver <joliver@gmsnf.com>
Subject: Re: Rolling Hills Community Development District - speed limit 
enforcement
Date: October 5, 2021 at 9:25:31 AM EDT
To: "Durham, Stacey" <SDurham@claysheriff.com>
Cc: Shannon Jordan <shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com>, Marilee Giles 
<Mgiles@gmsnf.com>

SGT Durham:  Thanks very much for the update and the actions you have coordinated. 
The increased presence by CCSO in the neighborhood has been noticed by residents and 
staff, as well as other drivers. It clearly has made a positive impact. CCSO’s response to 
our request for assistance has been outstanding.

Regards,

Jim Oliver
Governmental Management Services, LLC
475 West Town Place, Suite 114
World Golf Village

mailto:GilesMgiles@gmsnf.com
mailto:GilesMgiles@gmsnf.com
mailto:Mgiles@gmsnf.com
mailto:joliver@gmsnf.com
mailto:SDurham@claysheriff.com
mailto:shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com
mailto:Mgiles@gmsnf.com


World Golf Village
St. Augustine, Florida 32092
P:  (904) 940-5850 ext. 406
F:  (904) 940-5899
E-mail: joliver@gmsnf.com

On Oct 5, 2021, at 8:18 AM, Durham, Stacey <SDurham@claysheriff.com> wrote:

Good morning,
 
The area of Rolling Hills subdivision was on our traffic step up list for one month 
and was worked frequently by traffic deputies.  I hope our presence in the 
neighborhood had made an impact on the speeders.  
 
From: Durham, Stacey 
Sent: Saturday, August 28, 2021 9:16 AM
To: 'Jim Oliver' <joliver@gmsnf.com>
Cc: Shannon Jordan <shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com>; Marilee Giles 
<Mgiles@gmsnf.com>
Subject: RE: Rolling Hills Community Development District - speed limit 
enforcement
 
Good morning all,
 
We have completed the data collection in Rolling Hills, it appears that the worst 
times for speeding on Bradley Creek Parkway are in the early afternoon hours after 
high school releases and early evening hours when people are coming home from 
work.  There were speeders at other times during the day and night but we will start 
by focusing our efforts during the times indicated from our data.  On 8/25/21 this 
area was added to our traffic step up list for a month and should be worked 
frequently by traffic deputies.   Traffic deputies are in marked cars, unmarked cars 
or motorcycles so don’t be surprised if you don’t realize they are there until you see 
the lights. 
 
I will continue to monitor our progress in Rolling Hills and provide more information 
later. 
 
Have a good weekend!
 
 
From: Jim Oliver [mailto:joliver@gmsnf.com] 
Sent: Thursday, August 19, 2021 2:27 PM
To: Durham, Stacey <SDurham@claysheriff.com>
Cc: Shannon Jordan <shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com>; Marilee Giles 
<Mgiles@gmsnf.com>
Subject: Re: Rolling Hills Community Development District - speed limit 
enforcement
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open 
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
 

mailto:joliver@gmsnf.com
mailto:SDurham@claysheriff.com
mailto:joliver@gmsnf.com
mailto:shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com
mailto:Mgiles@gmsnf.com
mailto:joliver@gmsnf.com
mailto:SDurham@claysheriff.com
mailto:shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com
mailto:Mgiles@gmsnf.com


 
SGT Durham: Thanks very much for your prompt action. The District supports 
changes in speed limits signs if the investigation determines the changes are 
reasonable. I believe the currently posted speed limits were at the request of the 
original developer, who is no longer associated with the community. 
 
I’v copied CDD Chairperson Shannon Jordan and Assistant District Manager Marilee 
Giles to keep them in the loop. Great if you would include them in email updates, 
also.
 
Regards,
 
Jim Oliver
Governmental Management Services, LLC
475 West Town Place, Suite 114
World Golf Village
St. Augustine, Florida 32092
P:  (904) 940-5850 ext. 406
F:  (904) 940-5899
E-mail: joliver@gmsnf.com
 
 

On Aug 19, 2021, at 2:05 PM, Durham, Stacey 
<SDurham@claysheriff.com> wrote:
 
Mr. Oliver,
 
I was forwarded the below email and attached letter you sent to Sheriff 
Cook and was asked to look into the speeding problem and speed limit 
sign issues you noted.  I hope you received the voicemail I left you on 
Saturday 8/14/21, and I tried to call you today unfortunately, it seems 
there was a problem with the phone system so I am sending you this 
email.  The first step is to collect some traffic data in Rolling Hills, which 
began on Monday 8/16/21.  I reviewed the data today but it was 
inconclusive, likely due to the unit being mounted improperly.  I have 
adjusted the mounting of the unit and will review the data again soon. 
 
From your email it seems that deputies have mentioned before that the 
speed limits in Rolling Hills are not enforceable.  I agree with this 
statement because of the following Florida Statute:
316.183 (2) – “On all streets or highways, the maximum speed limits for all 
vehicles must be 30 miles per hour in business or residence districts, and 55 
miles per hour at any time at all other locations. However, with respect to a 
residence district, a county or municipality may set a maximum speed limit of 
20 or 25 miles per hour on local streets and highways after an investigation 
determines that such a limit is reasonable.”
 
We currently have this problem in numerous communities in Clay County.  This 
does not mean that vehicles can travel as fast as they want, we would obviously 
still stop vehicles traveling at unreasonable speeds.  I will be assigning a traffic 
deputy to visit this area frequently once the data collection is complete. 
 

mailto:joliver@gmsnf.com
mailto:SDurham@claysheriff.com


 
I will be contacting you again soon to advise you of our progress.  Please feel 
free to call or email me with questions or concerns. 
 
 
From: Jim Oliver <joliver@gmsnf.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, August 10, 2021 10:11 AM
To: sheriff <sheriff@claysheriff.com>
Cc: Shannon Jordan <shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com>; Frank Mattera 
<ustwo154@aol.com>; David Church <crestrondave73@gmail.com>; 
John Miller <jmille8170@gmail.com>; Rose Bock 
<rosesbock@aol.com>; Keith Hadden 
<keithhadden@haddeneng.com>; Marilee Giles <miles@gmsnf.com>; 
Freddie Oca <rhmanager@riversidemgtsvc.com>; Brian Stephens 
<bstephens@riversidemgtsvc.com>
Subject: Rolling Hills Community Development District - speed limit 
enforcement
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content 
is safe.
 
Dear Sheriff Cook:
 
Please see Facebook post below, as well the attached letters sent to the 
Clay County BOCC and CCSO in 2019 and 2017. Will you please advise 
who to contact at CCSO regarding speed enforcement at Rolling Hills, 
particularly to confirm whether it is occurring and if not. If not, what 
steps need to be taken to ensure speed limit enforcement? The roads at 
Rolling Hills are county-owned and the CDD Board continues to fully 
support taking necessary action to allow for the enforcement of speed 
limits. Some residents are growing frustrated as they continue to hear 
rumors (factual or false) that the speed limits as posted are not 
enforceable. 
 
Your leadership and assistance on this matter will be greatly appreciated. 
You or your appropriate staff members are welcome to call me to discuss 
in greater detail. I have copied the CDD Board of Supervisors, as well as 
key staff members.
 
Sincerely,
 
Jim Oliver
Governmental Management Services, LLC
475 West Town Place, Suite 114
World Golf Village
St. Augustine, Florida 32092
P:  (904) 940-5850 ext. 406
F:  (904) 940-5899
E-mail: joliver@gmsnf.com

mailto:joliver@gmsnf.com
mailto:sheriff@claysheriff.com
mailto:shannon.jordan.rh@gmail.com
mailto:ustwo154@aol.com
mailto:crestrondave73@gmail.com
mailto:jmille8170@gmail.com
mailto:rosesbock@aol.com
mailto:keithhadden@haddeneng.com
mailto:miles@gmsnf.com
mailto:rhmanager@riversidemgtsvc.com
mailto:bstephens@riversidemgtsvc.com
mailto:joliver@gmsnf.com




From: Charlemagne Macatangay Charlemagne.Macatangay@claycountygov.com
Subject: FW: Traffic Calming - Rolling Hills

Date: December 5, 2022 at 10:46 AM
To: Marilee Giles mgiles@gmsnf.com

Speed Humps / Table is just one form of traffic calming devices there are others.
Attached is the same policy by the County
 
Charlemagne Macatangay
Clay County Engineering Department
P.O. Box 1366
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043
904-284/269-6301 (office)
Charlemagne.macatangay@claycountygov.com
 
From: Charlemagne Macatangay 
Sent: Monday, December 5, 2022 10:41 AM
To: Marilee Giles <mgiles@gmsnf.com>; Chereese Stewart
<Chereese.Stewart@claycountygov.com>; Richard Smith
<Richard.Smith@claycountygov.com>; Teresa Gardner
<Teresa.Gardner@claycountygov.com>
Cc: Freddie Oca <rhmanager@riversidemgtsvc.com>; John Miller
<Jmille8170@gmail.com>; Sarah Sweeting <ssweeting@gmsnf.com>
Subject: RE: Traffic Calming - Rolling Hills
 
The County policy has not changed in the past few years.  A copy of the policy has been
attached for your reference.  If your request is to have stop signs or traffic signals as
traffic calming devices they are not allowed to be used in that fashion.  Those
improvements need to meet specific warrants justifying their use.  You may want to
consult with a traffic engineering firm to evaluate those possibilities.  Otherwise, the
allowable traffic calming devices are stated within the policy.
 
In general, County staff does not attend HOA meetings.  However, staff is available
during normal business hours to answer any questions.

Sincerely,
 
 
Charlemagne Macatangay
Clay County Engineering Department
P.O. Box 1366
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043
904-284/269-6301 (office)
Charlemagne.macatangay@claycountygov.com
 
From: Marilee Giles <mgiles@gmsnf.com> 
Sent: Monday, November 28, 2022 9:46 AM
To: Charlemagne Macatangay <Charlemagne.Macatangay@claycountygov.com>;
Chereese Stewart <Chereese.Stewart@claycountygov.com>; Richard Smith
<richard.smith@claycountygov.com>; Teresa Gardner
<teresa.gardner@claycountygov.com>

mailto:MacatangayCharlemagne.Macatangay@claycountygov.com
mailto:MacatangayCharlemagne.Macatangay@claycountygov.com
mailto:Gilesmgiles@gmsnf.com
mailto:Gilesmgiles@gmsnf.com
mailto:Charlemagne.macatangay@claycountygov.com
mailto:Charlemagne.macatangay@claycountygov.com
mailto:mgiles@gmsnf.com
mailto:Charlemagne.Macatangay@claycountygov.com
mailto:Chereese.Stewart@claycountygov.com
mailto:richard.smith@claycountygov.com
mailto:teresa.gardner@claycountygov.com


<teresa.gardner@claycountygov.com>
Cc: Freddie Oca <rhmanager@riversidemgtsvc.com>; John Miller
<Jmille8170@gmail.com>; Sarah Sweeting <ssweeting@gmsnf.com>
Subject: Traffic Calming - Rolling Hills
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
 

All,
 
Good morning. I am the District Manager for the Rolling Hills neighborhood. Your Team
helped me with the Traffic Calming Process in the Azalea Ridge neighborhood. Another
one of the Districts I manage, the Rolling Hills neighborhood is looking to explore their
options for traffic calming measures whether that be additional Stop Signs, a lower speed
limit, or a traffic calming devise. Can you provide options that I can share with the Board
of Supervisors? Also their next Public Meeting is December 13, 2022 at 6:00pm - it would
be great to have a representative from your office attend to help explain their options.
 
 
Marilee Giles
District Manager
GMS, LLC
475 West Town Place, Suite 114
St. Augustine, FL 32092
Office: (904) 940-5850 x412
Email: Mgiles@gmsnf.com
 
Under Florida law, e-mail addresses are public records. If you do not want your e-mail address
released in response to a public-records request, do not send electronic mail to this entity.
Instead, contact this office by phone or in writing. The information contained in this email and/or
attachment(s) may be confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to
whom it is addressed. This email and/or attachment(s) may contain material that is privileged or
protected from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient or the
individual responsible for delivering to the intended recipient, please notify sender immediately
by telephone to obtain instructions as to whether information in this email and/or attachment(s)

is confidential and privileged or protected from disclosure under applicable law. Traffic Calming 
Policy…02).pdf

mailto:teresa.gardner@claycountygov.com
mailto:rhmanager@riversidemgtsvc.com
mailto:Jmille8170@gmail.com
mailto:ssweeting@gmsnf.com
mailto:Mgiles@gmsnf.com


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 











 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 



















































































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  






	Agenda
	III. B.    Organizational Matters, Resolution 2023-01       
	IV.       Approval of Minutes of the October 11, 2022 Meeting 
	V.        Discussion of District Roads 
	VI.       Discussion Regarding Traffic Study 
	VII. B. Ratification of Requisitions (92)
	VIII. B.        Ratification of Requisitions (55-68) 
	IX.       Offer Letter Regarding Clay County Project No. 4 (Sandridge Road) – Parcels 402 & 405 
	X. Ratification of Audit Engagement Letter from Grau & Associates for Fiscal Year 2022
	XI.       Consideration of Resolution 2023-02, Amending Record Retention Policy 
	XIII. D. 1. Report 
	XVI. A.        Balance Sheet & Income Statement 
	B.        Assessment Receipt Schedule 
	 C. Check Register 



